IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SE J. WHETE FEB 8 1990

MICHAEL L. HERRIN,

Petitioner,

VS .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

 $R\ e\ s\ p\ o\ n\ d\ e\ n\ t\ .$

61.11;K, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

DCA

Case No. 89-1389

75,523

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FLORIDA BAR NO. 0143265

ROBERT D. ROSEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000 - Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, MICHAEL LYNN HERRIN, was the Appellee in the Second District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the Appellant in the Second District Court of Appeal. The appendix to this brief contains a copy of the decision rendered January 19, 1990.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 18, 1989, the State Attorney for the Tenth Judicial Circuit in and for Polk County, Florida, filed an information charging the Petitioner, MICHAEL LYNN HERRIN, with the purchase of cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school contrary to section 893.13, Florida Statutes (1987), which occurred on October 29, 1988 (R1). Mr. Herrin entered a guilty plea and a sentencing hearing was held on May 3, 1989 (R3-14, 18). At the hearing, Mr. Herrin testified that he had been addicted to cocaine since late 1986 (R6). At that time he was using rock cocaine every single day (R6). He sought treatment and spent three months in a rehabilitation center in Fort Lauderdale (R6-7)After his release, he managed to avoid using cocaine until October 29, 1988 (R7). On that date, Herrin testified he had been having social problems with friends which got him in a "depressed mood" (R7). He went down the road from where he lived and bought \$10 worth of cocaine which he intended to use for himself before he was arrested (R7)

Subsequent to the arrest, Herrin attended N.A. meetings and enrolled in a 16-week Tri-County program (R8). The trial court found that there was evidence that Mr. Herrin had an addiction problem (R12). Although not until his arrest did Herrin attempt to use cocaine following his release from the rehabilitation program, the trial court stated this was "not uncharacteristic from what I'm seeing with crack" (R12). The court adjudicated Mr.

Herrin guilty, and placed him under two years community control followed by one year probation, drug evaluation, treatment, warrantless urinalysis, 100 hours of community work, and \$150 in court costs (R12-13, 15-16). Under the sentencing guidelines, Mr. Herrin scored out to 3 1/2 - 4 1/2 years incarceration (R17). In the Justification of Mitigation of Sentence, the trial court stated "the defendant suffered from substance abuse. Barbera v. State, 505 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1987). The defendant is amenable to rehabilitation, as is evidenced by his voluntary entry into drug treatment. The defendant will also complete the drug treatment program at Tri-County" (R22).

The State filed a Notice of Appeal on May 16, 1989 (R23). The Second District Court of Appeal reversed the sentence. State v. Herrin, Case No, 89-1389 15 F.L.W. D231 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 19, 1990). The court held that for intoxication or substance abuse to justify a downward departure from the recommended guidelines sentence, the evidence must show the defendant was impaired at the time he committed the crime.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Herrin argues that his case conflicts with prior Florida Supreme Court and other District Court decisions as to whether drug addiction is a valid reason for downward departure from the sentencing guidelines, According to those prior decisions, evidence that a defendant suffered from drug addiction at the time of the offense is a valid reason to depart downwards. The Second District Court's opinion in Mr. Herrin's case that alcohol or drugs must have actually clouded the defendant's mind at the time of the offense in order to justify departure, constitutes a conflict with existing law.

The Second District Court also held that amenability to rehabilitation was not a valid reason for downward departure. However, other district courts have found this to be a valid reason to depart.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHEIHER THE DECISION IN STATE V. HERRIN, Case No, 89-1389 15 F.L.W. D231 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 19, 1990), IS IN CONFLICT WITH FLORIDA SUPREME COURT AND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OPINIONS HOLDING THAT SUBSTANCE ABUSE IS A VALID REASON TO DEPART DOWNWARD FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES?

Mr. Herrin was convicted and sentenced for possession of cocaine within a thousand feet of a school. In sentencing Mr. Herrin, the trial judge departed downward from the sentencing guidelines because he found that Mr. Herrin suffered from substance abuse. The trial court cited Barbera, supra, for support. Barbera simply states that intoxication or substance abuse is a clear and convincing reason for a downward departure. Id. Following Barbera, other district courts have held on numerous occasions that substance abuse or drug dependency is a valid reason to depart downward, &, e.g., State v. Winter, 549 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); State v. Joseph, 543 So.2d 405 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); State v. Bledsoe, 530 So.2d 94 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); State v. Salony, 528 So.2d 404 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), review denied, 531 So.2d 1355 (Fla. 1988); State v. Whitten, 524 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); State v. Francis, 524 So.2d 1172, 1173 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); State v Wilson, 523 So.2d 179 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); State v. Mesa, 520 So.2d 328 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); State v. Dauahtry, 505 So. 2d 537, 539 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), review dismissed, 511 So.2d 999 (Fla. 1987).

The Second District Court of Appeal reversed Mr. Herrin's sentence holding that a defendant must demonstrate more than drug or alcohol dependency or intoxication at the time of the offense. The court held that "where competent and substantial evidence reflects that alcohol or drugs, or a combination thereof, so clouded the defendant's mind at the time that he committed the crime as to impair his judgment, but without rising to the level of incompetence or insanity, that factor may support a mitigation of the sentence." State v. Herrin, 15 F.L.W. at D232. admitted that the "other district courts have not construed the Barbera holding as limited as we believe it should be construed." Id. at D232. Therefore, it is clear that express and direct conflict exists between this case and the line of cases following Barbera. This court should exercise its discretion and review the instant case because it goes against a clear, established pattern of decisions.

The trial court also listed that Mr. Herrin was "amenable to rehabilitation." The Second District Court of Appeal held that in their view "no case in Florida" permits a downward departure for that reason. Id. However, it appears that other District Courts have indeed permitted downward departures based on a defendant's chances for rehabilitation. See, e.g., State v. Whidden, 15 F.L.W. D78 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 29, 1989); State v. Lacev, 15 F.L.W. D99 (Fla. 4th DCA Dec. 20, 1989); State v. Forbes, 536 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); State v. Morales, 522 So.2d 464 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Therefore, express and direct conflict exists between Herrin, and

other District Courts of Appeal requiring this court to exercise its discretion to review the instant case.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments and authorities, petitioner has demonstrated that conflict does exist with the instant decision, the Florida Supreme Court and the District Courts of Appeal so as to invoke discretionary review of this Court.

APPEND IX

Decision rendered January 19, 1990

Al