IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL L. HERRIN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 75,5

FEB/23 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLFORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM I. MUNSEY, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813)272-2670

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

1.2

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent adopts the statement of the case and facts as presented by Petitioner and published in the opinion below. (Pet.App, Al) Because the record proper below is short (consisting of 33 pages), Respondent does annex the entire record proper as Respondent's Appendix 1-33 to this brief. Resolution of the Petition is on facts; and, the record proper itself the harmony between the holding below and the establishes conflict of holding asserted. Respondent would point out that Petitioner has failed to file a Motion to Stay Mandate in the Second District. Rather, Petitioner applies to this Court for that relief. The Motion was filed here on or about February 1, Your Respondent filed an Opposition on or about February The Second District issued its Mandate on or about 1990. February 6. 1990. As the Mandate has issued and Petitioner has not sought relief below, Respondent continues to oppose the Mandate of the Second District being recalled by this Court. However, on Friday, February 16, 1990, this Court rendered an Order staying the proceedings below.

₹.€

SUMMARY

Petitioner has failed to establish conflict of holdings. This Court must decline to invoke its jurisdiction to review the holding below pursuant to Art. V, §3(b) (3), Fla. Const.

1.2

ISSUE

WHETHER THE OPINION BELOW ESTABLISHED DIRECT CONFLICT OF HOLDING WITH THIS COURT'S OPINION IN BARBERA V. STATE, 505 SO.2D 413 (FLA. 1987?)

Petitioner string cites some fourteen Florida district courts of appeal decisions in an attempt to create conflict of holdings where there is no conflict. The seminal case relied on by Petitioner and addressed by the Court below is Barbera v. State, 505 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1987 . There is no conflict between Barbera and the case at bar. In the former there was proof of dysfunctional behavior as а direct result. $\circ f$ intoxication. Although this Court quashed the opinion in State v. Barbera, 487 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), the facts as found in the West Palm Beach trial court are not disturbed. There, James Patrick Barbera pled guilty to the attempted murder of his estranged wife. Mr. Barbera stabbed the "soon to be" former Mrs. Barbera after consuming a case of beer. His defense introduced at trial was he stabbed the former Mrs. Barbera while in an intoxicated condition. His defense counsel introduced before the trial court a psychological report establishing that Mr. Barbera had an alcoholic personality and destructive behavioral traits common to alcoholics. In fact, the diagnosis contained in the report opined that Mr. Barbera had suffered a "brief reactive psychosis" which led to the stabbing of the former Mrs. Barbera. Evidence was also offered by the Director for the Comprehensive Alcoholic Rehabilitation Program in West

ł.E

Palm Beach [where Washington, D.C. Mayor Marion Barry has sought sanctuary in light of his eight-count perjury and drug indictment]. As Judge Letts pointed out, "Distilled to its essence, the defendant's argument is that he was too drunk at the time of the attack to know what he was doing, having just on the day of the stabbing received his divorce papers." This Court found such proof constituted a good and sufficient reason for a downward departure and thus quashed the opinion of Judge Letts.

In Herrin v. State, __So.2d—, 15 FLW 231, 1990 WL 3239 (Fla. 2d DCA Case No. 89-01389, Opinion filed January 19, 1990)(Pet App A-1), the majority and concurring opinion are in harmony with Barbera. Judge Lehan does specially concur and he publishes his reasons for the decision. There is a factual distinction between an alcohol/narcotic dependent personality and an individual who is under the influence of alcohol and/or narcotics. Because Herrin is resolved on its facts, your Respondent has attached the entire record proper as Appendix to this brief.(Resp.App. 1-33). There was a complete failure of proof below to have Barbera apply to Herrin's sentencing. When Petitioner purchased his "crack" at the school yard, there was no evidence that he was under the influence of any controlled and/or non-controlled substance. (Resp.App. 7). This Court has never held that obsessive-compulsive desires constitute grounds for a downward departure. Judge Lehan does distill Herrin to its essence, pointing out: "There is as much of a difference between being a drug addict and being intoxicated by drugs as there is between being an alcoholic and being intoxicated by alcohol."

13

(Pet.App. A9). This Court's opinion in Barbera is sensitive to free-will and self-determination. The opinion below is sensitive to free-will and self-determination. The behavior of Michael is classic. Should all substance abusers have Herrin entitlement to a downward departure when engaged in an act of In other words, is Petitioner to be their own free will? rewarded for his failed attempt at drug rehabilitation (Resp. App. 7) by invoking the Barbera entitlement to a downward departure? For example, in the English policeman's handbook (Moriarty's Police Law, 28th Ed.) it is stated on page 5 that "When a person his own free will does an act he is said to do it 'willfully'." See, Gardner & Manian, Criminal Law (2nd Ed., West), n.47. Chief Justice Burger, concurring in the judgment, as reported in United States v. Ceccolini, 435 U.S. 268, 98 S.Ct. 1054, 55 L.Ed.2d 268 at 282 (1978) writes:

"In the history of ideas many thinkers have maintained with persuasion that there is no such thing as 'free will,' in the sense that the term implies the independent ability of an actor to regulate his or her conduct. Others have steadfastly maintained opposite, arguing the human personality is one innately free to chose among alternatives. Still a third group would deny that the very term 'freewill' has coherent meaning."

(text of 55 L.Ed.2d at 280).

Chief Justice Burger continues:

1.2

"As one philosopher has aptly stated the matter, '[t]he freedom of the will consists in the impossibility of knowing actions that still lie in the future." L. Wittgenstein, Tractatus Logico-Philosophicus Par. 5.1362 (Pears & McGuinness translation 1961).

(text of 55 L.Ed.2d at 282).

This is where <u>Barbera</u> and <u>Herrin</u> are in harmony. James Patrick Barbera, in his intoxicated fit of fatal attraction and/or passionate obsession, had no capacity to know the consequences of his stabbing the "soon to be" former Mrs. Barbera; however, Michael L. Herrin, in his sober state of desire, knew full well the consequences of purchasing crack cocaine. The jurisdiction of this crime was Polk County, Florida; not, Amersterdam, Netherlands. In Polk County; Florida; and, the United Sates of America there is a War on Drugs. Many countries have surrendered. The People of Florida have not! There is still a national declaration of war in the United States; Florida; and, Polk County!

As to the jurisdictional issue, this Court may accept review only if the decision of the district court of appeal expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or a decision of the Supreme Court. The Herrin panel was well aware of this Court's precedent in Barbera; and, the court below declined to certify that its decision is in "direct conflict" with a decision of either a sister court or this Court. See, Art. V §3(b)(4), Fla.Const.; and, State v. Perez, 449 So.2d 818 (Fla. 1984). In Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980), the Court defined the term "expressly" by its ordinary dictionary meaning: "in an express manner." The dictionary meaning of the term "express" as set forth in the Jenkins opinion is: "to represent in words" or "to give expression to." Also see, The Florida Star v. B.J.F., 530 So.2d 286 (Fla. 1988) for an analysis of discretionary jurisdiction.

₹.€

Petitioner casts the opinion below as one being in conflict. It is not. The opinion merely explains and distinguishes on the facts, the <u>ratio decidendi</u> and/or the point in <u>Barbera</u> which determined the result. In <u>Barbera</u> there was proof established to support a downward departure; and, in <u>Herrin</u> there was a complete failure of proof to support a downward departure.

_ 7 _

it

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing reasons, argument, and authority, Respondent prays that this Court will make and render an Order declining jurisdiction in this cause.